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Tuesday Morning Session,

February 28, 2023.

ALJ ADDISON: Let's go ahead and go on
the record at this time.

Good morning, everyone. Today 1is the
second day of hearing that the Board has set for Case
No. 21-868-EL-BGN being captioned in the Matter of
the Application of the Scioto Farms Solar Project,
LLC, for a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility
and Public Need to Construct a Solar-Powered Electric
Generation Facility in Pickaway County, Ohio.

We will dispense with the taking of
appearances this morning and dive right back into
where we left off yesterday.

So at this time I will note that we will
be leaving the public transcript and transferring
over into the confidential session. And I would
advise anyone if you have not executed a protective
agreement with the Applicant or if you are not
currently employed by the Board itself, I would Jjust
ask you to leave the room at this time.

(CONFIDENTIAL PORTION EXCERPTED.)

*x x x Kx %
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(PUBLIC PORTION.)

ALJ ADDISON: Ms. Sheely, are you
prepared to proceed with your redirect on the public
transcript?

MS. SHEELY: Yes, your Honor.

ALJ ADDISON: Please proceed.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION (Continued)
By Ms. Sheely:

Q. Mr. Woodruff, yesterday you were asked
questions about whether the project has committed to
using only panels for the project that pass the USEPA
TCLP. Do you remember some testimony about that

topic?

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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A, I do.

Q. Can you please turn to the application
narrative at page 42.

A. Yes. Just a moment. Yes.

Q. So I believe yesterday you testified
based upon pages 9 and 10 of the application
narrative that the list of panels provided there were
all TCLP-approved panels, but does this refresh your
recollection as to whether there was also just a
plain commitment in the application to use only

TCLP-approved panels?

A. It does.

Q. And can you read the sentence that says
that?

A. Yes. On page 42 of the application

narrative under the heading "Solid Waste During
Operation," at subsection B in the second sentence,
it states "The Applicant will only utilize Tier 1
equipment suppliers and expects solar panels to pass
Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (TCLP)
testing regulated by the USEPA to ensure they are not
hazardous to people or the environment."

Q. Thank you. There was testimony yesterday
regarding whether the project has made a commitment

limiting grading to 15 percent. You were familiar

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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with the discussions and execution of the Joint
Stipulation as to certificate conditions in this
case, correct?

A. Yes.
Q. Do you agree, and feel free to reference

Joint Exhibit 1, if necessary, that in condition
(10)b of that Stipulation appears that commitment
from the project?

A. Which binder is that in?

Q. It would be the second volume of
Applicant's exhibits. Last one.

A. Yes. Condition 10 of the stipulated
provisions in Joint Exhibit 1 at subparagraph b which
appears on page 4 states limits that the condition
limits grading to no more than 15 percent of the
agricultural lands within the project area, as
defined in the application.

0. Would you look at Exhibit 10, please,
Applicant Exhibit 10.

A. Pardon me. Yes.

Q. Did you participate in preparing the
memorandum dated December 15, 2022, and providing it
to the Wayne Township Trustees and their counsel Tony
Chamberlain?

A. Yes.

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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Q. There were questions yesterday regarding
a portion of this that starts at page 18. 1It's
actually Exhibit A to it.

A. Yes.

Q. And you would agree that this is a
comparison of the conditions from the Staff Report
for Scioto Farms Solar versus the adopted OPSB
conditions for the Yellowbud Solar project?

A. Correct.

Q. And that you asked for this comparison to
be prepared?

A. It was prepared at my direction, yes.

Q. Why did you do that?

A. I did that because in the course of many

of the discussions I had with the various Intervenors
and more broadly observing the comments on the
docket, there seemed to be a great deal of concern --
most of the concerns were -- raised were associlated
with the Yellowbud project and the construction of
that project and the conditions that were received
there by the Intervenors and others and my intention
here was to demonstrate to the Township that the
subject matter of many of the concerns was addressed
through more granular and robust conditions in the

Scioto Farms' proposed conditions than what appeared

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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in the Yellowbud approved conditions.

Q. Did you determine how many additional
conditions were part of the proposed Scioto Farms
conditions from what had been adopted for the
Yellowbud Solar project?

A. I did. Of the 39 conditions proposed in
Scioto Farms by Staff, 18 were conditions which did
not appear in the Yellowbud adopted conditions.

0. Can you summarize the -- some of the
subject matters on which the additional conditions
proposed for Scioto Farms covered that were not
included within the Yellowbud Solar conditions?

MR. VAN KLEY: Your Honor, I am going to
object at this point. I think this is ranging well
outside of the -- of the topics of cross-examination.
There were some questions about grading during
cross—-examination in which the witness just testified
about, but the cross-examination didn't deal with
other issues that would entail any differences
between the Yellowbud project and this project. So I
think this is -- this is territory that should have
been placed in Mr. Woodruff's direct testimony if
they wanted to cover it.

ALJ ADDISON: Well, it is in an errata.

Ms. Sheely, any response?

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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MS. SHEELY: Yes, it is his testimony but
also there was questioning yesterday regarding the
comparison of condition No. 1 in this very document
and it being a condition that's the same as Yellowbud
and certainly I think that this proceeding will
include criticisms of certain things in how Yellowbud
was constructed as the basis for concern about how
this project might be constructed. $So I think that
this is all fair game for redirect.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you.

I'll allow the question.

A. What was the question?

0. (By Ms. Sheely) Can you summarize some of
the additional conditions that have been proposed
relative to Scioto Farms Solar that were not included
in the Yellowbud conditions based upon your analysis
of it?

A. Well, I don't know that I can summarize.
I mean, the table is -- is pretty clear on what
provisions appear as to which project, but I can say
that there is a provision for the Scioto Farms
project on grading which does not appear at all in
the Yellowbud certificate. There is a provision on
topsoil management that does not appear, provision

for an emergency response plan to be filed 30 days

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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prior to the pre-construction conference that does
not appear. A plan for pollutant discharge
elimination does not appear in Yellowbud's
certificate. There is a provision relating to
operational sound levels during construction.
Yellowbud has no analogue to that. Much more
extensive provision in the Scioto Farms conditions
regarding field tile management, remediation for
damage, surveying, a very complete and thorough
decommissioning condition which did not appear at all
in Yellowbud; provisions relating to end of life
disposal for solar panels; provisions for remediation
of the site and testing of the site following
decommissioning to ensure that it's returned to its
original agricultural purpose. Provisions regarding
vegetation during, after construction, during
operations, requiring compliance with ODNR levels of
pollinator vegetation and other types of vegetation,
none of which appeared in the Yellowbud certificate.

MS. SHEELY: No further questions. Thank
you.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you, Ms. Sheely.

Mr. Dove?

MR. DOVE: ©No more questions.

ALJ ADDISON: Ms. Curtis?

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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MS. CURTIS: No questions, your Honor.
ALJ ADDISON: Mr. Van Kley?
MR. VAN KLEY: Yes, your Honor.
RECROSS-EXAMINATION
By Mr. Van Kley:
0. Mr. Woodruff, go back to the narrative to
the application page 42.
A, Yes.
Q. All right. You read some language from

this page that included the statement that "The
Applicant will only utilize Tier 1 equipment
suppliers and expects solar panels to pass TCLP
testing"; 1is that correct?

A, Yes.

Q. So are you interpreting the statement
that the Applicant expects the panels to pass the
TCLP as a commitment that the Applicant will purchase
only panels that pass TCLP testing?

A. I am simply testifying as to what appears
in the application. The expectation is any Tier 1
panel will pass the TCLP test as all panels in that
tier have for the last 15 years.

Q. So the Applicant i1s not making any

promises to utilize only panels that pass TCLP

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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testing?

MS. SHEELY: Objection.

ALJ ADDISON: Grounds?

MS. SHEELY: Asked and answered and it
mischaracterizes his prior answer.

MR. VAN KLEY: Well, I am asking him
whether that's his position because he seems to be
waving back and forth between a commitment and just
an expectation.

ALJ ADDISON: Oh, Mr. Van Kley, I tend to
agree with Ms. Sheely. He's answered the question
and I do believe your question mischaracterizes
earlier testimony and the Board can certainly look at
his answers to those earlier questions and I am sure
they will be well informed as to where he stands on
that issue.

MR. VAN KLEY: All right. Very good,
your Honor. I have nothing further at this point.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you.

Mr. Chamberlain?

MR. CHAMBERLAIN: Nothing, your Honor.
Thank you.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you.

Mr. Eubanks?

MR. EUBANKS: No questions, your Honor.

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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ALJ ADDISON: Thank you.
EXAMINATION
By ALJ Addison:

Q. Mr. Woodruff, just very briefly, was
Yellowbud Solar -- do you recall Ms. Sheely asked
various questions regarding conditions that were
contained in the Yellowbud Solar certificate,
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you compared the conditions currently
set forth in Joint Exhibit 1 which was the Joint
Stipulation; is that correct?

A. No. The comparison that I made was
between the Staff proposed conditions as they
appeared in the application -- in the Staff Report.
Since that time there have been additional
modifications to the Staff proposed conditions which
appear in the Joint Stipulation.

0. Thank you for that clarification. And
Yellowbud was the only additional case that you have
included in Staff Exhibit 10 to make such a
comparison, correct?

A. For Applicant's conditions, Exhibit 10,

yes, yes.

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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Q. And you -- so you did not engage in any
sort of comparison between the certificates proposed
in the Staff Report for Scioto Farms for this
proceeding with any other certificate granted to a
solar farm in any other proceeding, correct?

A. Not for purposes of this exercise. We
did review the certificate and order in the Dodson
case specifically with respect to setbacks which led
to our seeking an amendment to the application in
this case. But that was the only other time we
looked at a certificate.

Q. Okay. And you similarly did not compare
the Staff proposed conditions in the Staff Report to
any certificate to be granted in this proceeding with
those proposed in any other solar farm proceeding
before the Board whether or not a certificate had
been issued, correct?

A. Correct. And to be clear, the purpose
for making that comparison here is the proximity of
the Yellowbud project to the Intervenors' property.
And the rationale for making the comparison was
concerns that we had heard about the Yellowbud
project. We hadn't heard that type of specific
concern about any other project that had been

certificated and in construction.

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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Q. And you would agree that each one of
these cases that I have referred to, any case dealing
with a proposal to build a solar farm facility, all
of those are fact specific, correct?

A, Yes.

Q. And some conditions that may apply in one

case may not be very relevant in another proceeding,

correct?
A, Yes.
ALJ ADDISON: Okay. Those are all the
questions I had, Mr. Woodruff. You are excused.

THE WITNESS: Oh, thank you.

MS. SHEELY: Can I just make one brief
clarification through a question to Mr. Woodruff as
re-redirect?

ALJ ADDISON: Oh, no. We don't allow

that.
MS. SHEELY: No.
ALJ ADDISON: Sorry. The record stands.
Thank you, Mr. Woodruff. You are
excused.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, your Honor.
ALJ ADDISON: All right. Ms. Sheely, you
had previously moved for the admission of Applicant

Exhibits No. 8, 9, 10, 11, and 32 and Joint

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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Exhibit 1; is that correct?

MS. SHEELY: Yes.

ALJ ADDISON: Are there any objections to
the admission of those exhibits?

MR. VAN KLEY: Could we get that list
again?

ATTORNEY EXAMINER: Absolutely. It's
Applicant Exhibit No. 8, 9, 10, 11, 32, and Joint
Exhibit 1. And I'll give you a minute to review
those.

MR. VAN KLEY: Yeah. We don't have any
objection to those.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you. Any other
objections from any other party?

All right. Hearing no objections, we
will now admit Applicant Exhibit Nos. 8, 9, 10, 11,
32, and Joint Exhibit 1 into the record.

(EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

ALJ ADDISON: Ms. Sheely, I believe we
had an additional exhibit. Are you now moving that
as well?

MS. SHEELY: Yes. I would like to move
for the admission of Exhibit 33-C, Applicant Exhibit
33-C.

ALJ ADDISON: Any objection?

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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MR. VAN KLEY: No.

ALJ ADDISON: I will note for the record
that it is no longer Applicant 33-C. We will just
refer to it as Applicant Exhibit 33 as we dealt with
the confidentiality concerns with that particular
document.

And, Mr. Van Kley, you already indicated
you did not have an objection; is that correct?

MR. VAN KLEY: That's correct, your
Honor.

ALJ ADDISON: Any other objections from
other parties?

No? Okay. Hearing none, it will be
admitted.

(EXHIBIT ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

ALJ ADDISON: Mr. Van Kley, will you be
moving any documents at this time?

MR. VAN KLEY: Yes, your Honor. We would
move the admission of Ebenhack's Exhibits 4, 6, 7, 8,
9, 10-C, 11-C, and 12-C.

ALJ ADDISON: Any objections to the
admission of Ebenhack Exhibit Nos. 4, 6, 8, 9, 10-C,
11-C, or 12-C-?

MS. SHEELY: Yes, your Honor.

MR. VAN KLEY: Your Honor, did you

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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mention No. 7, or did I mention No. 77

ALJ ADDISON: You did not mention No. 7.

MR. VAN KLEY: We would like to move that
one.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you. And just to be
clear, Mr. Van Kley has also moved to admit Ebenhack
Exhibit No. 7 in the event that you would like to
review that document as well.

MS. SHEELY: I can address them one by
one, 1f you would like.

ALJ ADDISON: Yes. Please proceed.

MS. SHEELY: Ebenhack Exhibit 6, we
object to this as hearsay because the witness with
whom it was covered -- actually I'm sorry. I may
need to back up. Ebenhack Exhibit 5, was that the
first of this group?

ALJ ADDISON: That was not moved for
admission.

MS. SHEELY: 6 was moved?

ALJ ADDISON: 6 was moved.

MS. SHEELY: Yes. We object to this on
the basis of a lack of foundation with the witness
with whom it was covered and also the fact that it is
hearsay.

ALJ ADDISON: Is that the only exhibit

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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you are objecting to, Ms. Sheely?

MS. SHEELY: No. We object to Exhibit 7
for the same reasons, same objections.

We object to Exhibit 8. Just to clarify
not on the basis of authenticity but on the basis of
foundation insofar as the witness had no personal
knowledge of these e-mails and was not copied on
them.

We object to Exhibit 9 as hearsay.

We object to Exhibit 11-C for the lack of
foundation because the witness has no personal
knowledge and was not copied.

And we object to Exhibit 12-C on the same
basis, lack of foundation and the witness has no
personal knowledge because he was not copied.

Those are the objections to the exhibits
you've referenced.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you.

Mr. Van Kley, care to respond?

MR. VAN KLEY: Yes, your Honor. With
regard to Exhibit 7, I would note that the witness
did -- did acknowledge that that was a copy of a
letter that he had seen. He also stated that his
compilation of responses to the Township arguments

and that are attached to his testimony do provide

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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some response to the statements in Exhibit 7.
Exhibits 8, 10, 11, and -- I guess 10
wasn't objected to, the state -- the other documents

are all authenticated as records of Scioto Farms
Solar that has been -- have been produced in this
proceeding as shown by the Bates numbers and the
testimony of the witness acknowledging that had been
produced, and the contents are statements of a party
to this case that are admissible under that exception
to the hearsay rule.

with regard to Exhibit 9, I think that
was objected to, I'm not sure, i1if it was, then the
witness did acknowledge that he addressed arguments
in Exhibit -- that are in Exhibit 9 in his
attachments to his testimony, so we believe that they
should come in on that basis.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you.

And just to be clear, Ms. Sheely, you are
not objecting to the admission of Ebenhack Exhibit
No. 4 or 10-C; 1is that correct?

MS. SHEELY: 10-C, no. And 4, no.

ALJ ADDISON: Okay. So we will take care
of the easy ones first. Any other objections to the
admission of Ebenhack Exhibit Nos. 4 or 10-C?

Hearing none, those will be admitted into

Armstrong & Okey, Inc., Columbus, Ohio (614) 224-9481
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the record.

(EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

ALJ ADDISON: I would just briefly note
that the Board is not strictly bound by the Ohio
Rules of Evidence. While the documents noted as
Ebenhack Exhibit Nos. 6, 7, and 9 may or may not
constitute hearsay under those rules, the Board can
certainly look to those documents and afford the
appropriate weight that it determines should be
afforded to them.

So I will note your objection,

Ms. Sheely, but I will admit Ebenhack Exhibit Nos. 6,
7, and 9 into the record.

(EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

ALJ ADDISON: However, based on the
witness's responses to certain questions posed to him
regarding Ebenhack Exhibit No. 8 and No. 12-C, I
agree that the appropriate foundation had not been
laid for those documents with this witness; and,
thus, I will not be moving those into the record at
this time.

Along those same lines, Ms. Sheely, your
objection to Ebenhack Exhibit No. 11-C was based on
hearsay; 1is that correct?

MS. SHEELY: 11-C was lack of foundation.
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ALJ ADDISON: Lack of foundation. So
based on those same lines, I will also similarly not
move 11-C into the record.

I believe that 1s all of the documents.
Correct me if I am wrong, Mr. Van Kley.

MR. VAN KLEY: You are correct, your
Honor.

ALJ ADDISON: Okay. Ms. Sheely, will you
be calling the next witness for the Applicant?

MS. SHEELY: Yes, your Honor. We would
like to call Courtney Dohoney.

ALJ ADDISON: Ms. Dohoney, you have been
patiently waiting. Would you please raise your right
hand.

(Witness sworn.)

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you. Please be

seated.

COURTNEY DOHONEY
being first duly sworn, as prescribed by law, was
examined and testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION
By Ms. Sheely:
Q. Hello, Ms. Dohoney.

A. Good morning.
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Would you please state and spell your

name for the record.

A.

Sure. Courtney Dohoney, C-O0-U-R-T-N-E-Y

D-O-H-O-N-E-Y.

o o2 0 P 0O

please.

Q.

Who is your employer?

Stantec Consulting.

What's your title?

Senior Associate Project Manager.

Could you turn to Applicant Exhibit 12,

I'm there.

Do you recognize that as your prefiled

testimony which was filed in this proceeding on

January 30,
A,

Q.

20237
I do.

If T were to ask you the gquestions that

are contained within it today, would your answers be

the same?
A.
Q.

Exhibit 13.

A.

Q.

They would.

Could you please turn to Applicant

Yes.

Do you recognize that to be the

unanticipated discovery plan that was filed on May 2,

2022, in this case?
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A. That appears to be missing from the
folder.
No kidding.
A. There i1is a cover page but.
0. Oh. Just a moment. Can you turn to
Exhibit -- i1s there an Exhibit 3 that has a tab 107
ALJ ADDISON: Should tab -- I have

letters, tab J. What did you say?

MS. SHEELY: Tab 10.

ALJ ADDISON: Tab J.

MS. SHEELY: Oh, are they letters?

ALJ ADDISON: Yes.

A. I see an unanticipated discovery plan.

Q. So that is an unanticipated discovery
plan filed May 2, 2022, which is also Applicant
Exhibit 13, we just didn't reproduce it in the binder
multiple times; is that correct?

A. Yes.

MS. SHEELY: Okay. At this time I would
like to move to enter Exhibits 12 and 13 into the
record, subject to cross-examination, and tender the
witness for cross.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you wvery much,

Ms. Sheely.

Mr. Dove?
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MR. DOVE: No questions, your Honor.
ALJ ADDISON: Ms. Curtis?

MS. CURTIS: No questions, your Honor.
ALJ ADDISON: Mr. Van Kley?

MR. VAN KLEY: Yes, your Honor. Thank

you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

By Mr. Van Kley:

Q. Ms. Dohoney, I am hoping that you can
clear up a question that we've had, from your smile I
think you sat through at least part of it, concerning
collection lines. Why don't we go to Exhibit A which
is the preliminary site plan for the application
which was marked as Applicant's Exhibit 2 and we will

take a crack at answering my questions using this

document. If we have to, we'll find another one
that -- hopefully that will answer the question.
A. I found the site plan.
Q. Found it? Okay. Let's go to the map

that is in Exhibit A of Applicant's Exhibit 2. And I
have a question or two about what appears to be a
collection line between the parcel on which the
switchyard and substation for the project are located

and the solar panel areas to the southeast of that.
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And specifically I am looking at a -- what appears to
be a corridor between the parcel with the substation
and the panel area to the southeast of that. Do you
see that corridor?

A. I do.

Q. Okay. Does —-- 1is that corridor the
location of a planned collection line?

A. Yes. There will be collection lines
going through those.

0. And the —-- this collection line would
convey electricity from all of the solar panel areas
to the southeast of the substation into the
substation; is that correct?

A. That's my understanding, yes.

0. Is —— 1s that collection line located on
land that is under lease to the Applicant?

A. The parcel where the solar panels are to
the southeast is under lease and the parcel with the
substation and switchyard and laydown area is also
under lease and I believe there is an easement in
between where those two parcels meet to allow for the
collection to pass through.

0. Okay. Is that easement on land that is
not under lease to the Applicant?

A. I believe the easement is in place of a
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lease.

0. I'm sorry. I didn't hear the last part
of your answer.

A. I believe the easement is in place of a
lease. It's the mechanism to allow the cables to be
installed in that area.

Q. Do you see a parcel to the northeast of
that collection line that's under easement that is
colored as kind of a brownish color in Exhibit A
directly to the east of the substation?

A. Yes. That parcel appears to be outside
the project boundary. Is that the parcel you are
referencing?

Q. Yeah. Is that land under lease to the
Applicant?

A. Not that I am aware. It's not part of
the project boundaries, so it's not being considered
as part of the project.

0. Okay. How close is the collection line
that is the subject of the easement to the boundary
line of the parcel that is colored in brown to the
northeast of 1t?

A. Without having exact measures wouldn't be
able to tell you.

0. Can you tell me whether the collection
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line in that area will be located closer than
150 feet to the boundary of the non-participating
parcel to the northeast?

A. At the scale of this map, I can't tell
for certain, but I would expect that it's closer than
that.

Q. Do you know whether there is any
agreement in place with the owner of that
non-participating parcel to allow the siting of a
collection line closer than 150 feet from the
boundary?

A. I'm not aware of any sort of agreements
that the Applicant may have with the landowners
there.

Q. All right. Thank you for those answers.
Could have saved a lot of time by starting with your
testimony first, I guess. Appreciate that.

Let's talk a little bit about Exhibit Q
to the application. Exhibit Q is labeled as
"Ecological Resources Report" of Applicant's Exhibit
2, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And looking at the third page of that
document which includes the cover page, your

signature appears there as approving the document,
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correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. Did you write any of Exhibit Q yourself?
A. I did not.
Q. Did you read the entire report that's in

Exhibit Q before approving it?

A. I did.

Q. Let's go to page 27 of Exhibit Q which is
the 32nd PDF page. Let me know when you have found
that page, please.

A. I did.

Q. All right. Let's look at the section on
"Bald Eagle Nest Search" which is No. 4.5.

A. Give me one second. My page numbers

don't appear to be matching yours.

Q. Okay. It would be true page 27 of the
report.

A. I found it. Thank you.

0. Okay. Stantec conducted a search for

bald eagle nests in the project area; is that

correct?
A. That's correct.
0. Did its search extend beyond the

boundaries of the project area?

A. It did.
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0. How far?

A. It went out to a distance of 660 feet
from the project boundary.

Q. Did Stantec find any bald eagle nests
within that territory?

A. We did not.

0. But there is a bald eagle nest that was

identified by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service just
outside of the 660 feet perimeter around the project
area, correct?
A. That's correct. I believe it was
six-tenths of a mile away from the project boundary.
Q. Do you know whether that bald eagle nest

is still active?

A. As of today, no. We have not checked
that nest.
0. When is the last time you checked to

determine whether that nest was active, if at all?
A. I don't believe we had access to the
property where that nest was located, and it's in a
wooded riparian area along the Scioto River, so we
didn't have access to be able to check on the nest.
0. Section 4.5 on page 27 of Exhibit Q
states that an eagle nest search was conducted on

November 17, 2021. Have any bald eagle nests surveys
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been conducted since that date?
A. They have not.
Q. Did the Applicant perform any literature

survey for plants within the project area or within
one quarter mile of the project area?

A. We completed consultation letters to the
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and Ohio Department of
Natural Resources looking for any records they may
have of threatened, endangered plants or animals that
may be present within the vicinity.

We also then completed a field survey
which noted -- as part of our wetland delineation
surveys, we also mapped the different habitat types
within the project area and the dominant vegetation
within each of those habitat types.

0. Other than the consultation with the
wildlife agencies in which you requested information
about threatened and endangered species, did the
Applicant do any other literature survey for plants
or for animals?

A. Everything that is part of our search is
contained within our ecological assessment report so
there was background research done as in reviewing
any of the threatened and endangered species that

were flagged by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service or
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Ohio Department of Natural Resources, and then a
determination was made as to whether there was any
potential suitable habitat for those plants within
the project area which we did not find any.

Q. The Applicant did not do any field
surveys to look for any animals or birds in the
project area?

A. During the course of our surveys out at
the site, we also made observations as you can see
in -- on page 27. When we did the bald eagle nest
search, we did observe a bald eagle flying through
the project area, so we make observations about
wildlife that are encountered while we are out at the
site.

Q. But those aren't actually field surveys
where you purposely -- where the purpose is to do an
inventory of the species of birds or animals in the
project area?

A. No, we did not do a comprehensive
assessment of everything encountered in the field.

0. Stantec noted that there is habitat in
the project area that could be used by the endangered
lark sparrow; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did the Applicant survey those areas to
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find out whether the lark sparrow was present?

A. We have not done presence/absence surveys
for that species. As part of the Ohio Department of
Natural Resources letter, they acknowledge that there
may —-- that species could be in the area but
recommended either avoidance of the area to avoid
impacts or clearing and construction outside of the
breeding period which is the period when that species
would be most susceptible to impact; and we've
agreed -- the Applicant has agreed to abide by those
avoidance and minimization measures.

Q. Are you —-- are you aware that waterfowl
follow the Scioto River during migrations?

A. Yes.

Q. Did the Applicant perform any studies to
determine what waterfowl may follow the Scioto River
during their migrations in the area east of the
project area?

A. The evaluation would have been targeted
to those threatened or endangered species that were
flagged by the Fish and Wildlife Service or the Ohio
Department of Natural Resources.

Q. Did the Applicant perform any study to
determine whether waterfowl migrating along the

Scioto River utilize the project area for foraging or
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any other purposes?
A. No, we did not do any specific waterfowl
migration studies. Our application does address the

potential for waterfowl to use that area, and we are
aware of that, but the project has been set back from
the Scioto River, so we don't think there would be
direct impacts.

Q. How far out do waterfowl travel from
their migration routes in order to forage for food
during migration?

A. It can vary widely by the species you are
talking about and the conditions that exist on any
given day with weather patterns or foraging habitat
availability.

Q. Did the Applicant determine whether any
of the species that migrate along the Scioto River
would travel as far as the project area to forest --
to forage?

A. We didn't specifically look at that, but
I would assume that they could forage in the fields.

0. You are aware that the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service advised the Applicant of the
existence of some endangered mussel in the Scioto
River east of the project area?

A, That's correct.
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Q. Can you tell me whether any of the
endangered mussels in the Scioto River are located in
areas that are downstream from points where runoff
from the project area would enter the river?

A. We were not provided the exact locations
of those species and where the records occur within
the Scioto River. We have provided a list of those
species and assumed their presence was 1in the Scioto
River but that's the extent of our knowledge of their
exact location.

Q. The Applicant didn't do any fieldwork to
determine where those endangered mussels are located
in the river?

A. No, because we don't have access to the
river to do surveys. It's not within the project
boundary or on leased land that we are able to
survey.

Q. What would it take to get access to the
Scioto River to do a survey like that? 1It's a public
river, isn't it?

A. It is. There are also collection permits
that need to be obtained from the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service and the Ohio Department of Natural
Resources to be able to handle threatened and

endangered species so there would be a work plan and
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permit needed from both of those entities to be able
to do that.

In terms of coordination for actually
accessing that, we would -- to get to the river, we
would need to cross somebody's property to access the
river unless we put in at a public access point and
floated downstream but that's not necessarily a
reliable way to go about that work.

Q. Did you check to see if there were any
public access points to the Scioto River in that
area®?

A. We did not.

Q. Is there any reason why Stantec could not
have obtained the permits necessary to survey for or
look for endangered mussels in the Scioto River?

A. The project will not be directly
impacting any habitat where those mussels would be,
so we didn't feel there was a need for any further
study. The project is designed, all the
infrastructure, to avoid stream impacts within the
project area which would be tributaries to the Scioto
River.

Q. Going back to my question, Stantec --
Stantec could have applied for the permits necessary

to do that survey, correct?
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A. We could have, yes. We didn't feel it
was necessary.
Q. I'm sorry. Could you go to Exhibit R of

the application that has been marked as Applicant's
Exhibit 2. And let me know when you have found that.

A. I'm there.

Q. Okay. Now, you said that you didn't
think that the project would impact the mussels in
the Scioto River. Am I stating that accurately as
your position?

A. We would avoid direct impacts to those
species, correct.

Q. Okay. What's a direct impact as you view
it?

A. That would be disturbance of the
streambed where the mussels rest and potential impact
could result from the siltation covering the mussels.

0. Yeah. 1In fact, the mussels are sensitive
to silt that has been eroded off of land into their

habitat, correct?

A, That's correct. That can affect them.
0. Yeah. How does it affect them?
A. The siltation and the runoff, like you

mentioned, the turbidity, sediment comes in with the

water and covers the bottom and makes it -- the
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oxygen exchange more challenging for them, I believe.
0. And what are the effects on the mussels

if that occurs?

A. I believe fatality can result in extreme
circumstances.

Q. Okay.

A. More likely it would be their avoidance.

As areas become more silted, they will seek new areas
in the stream where there is more -- less
sedimentation and better habitat quality for them.

Q. So the Applicant did not do any studies
to determine whether silt coming off of the project
area may affect the mussels in the river?

A. We did not do a direct evaluation of that
because the project will be required to get a
National Pollution Discharge Elimination System
Permit for stormwater which will protect soil runoff
from leaving the site and entering adjacent
waterways.

Q. Does the -- the implementation of such a
permit mean that there will be zero siltation that
will come off of a disturbed land area into a stream?

A. I don't believe that they can say it
guarantees 100 percent of the sediment is captured,

no.
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Q. Can you give me a rule of thumb as to
what percentage of siltation will be controlled by
the implementation of such a permit?

A. I believe there are subsequent witnesses

that can testify to this stormwater plan better than

myself.
Q. Do you know the answer to the question?
A. I do not.
0. Going back to Exhibit R then, I would

like to direct your attention to a letter from the
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service which starts on the
first page after the cover page for Exhibit R. Do
you see that letter?

A. Yes.

0. That's a letter from U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service to you; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

0. And it's -- this letter concerns this
project, right?

A. Correct.

Q. If you go to the second page of that
letter, do you see where the first paragraph lists a
number of federally-listed freshwater mussels that
are in the -- in the area of the proposed project?

A. Yes.
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0. It says there that these mussels are

known from the Scioto River in Pickaway County,

correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And then it says "Should the proposed

project directly or indirectly impact the Ohio River
or its naturally-vegetated riparian zone, we
recommend that a survey be conducted to determine the

presence or probable absence of these mussels in the

vicinity of the proposed site." Did I read that
correctly?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. But the Applicant did not perform such a

survey 1in this case, correct?

A. That's correct because we didn't feel as
though there was a direct impact. As I said, all
streams have riparian areas that have been avoided,
and the indirect impacts we do not believe were
significant to warrant a determination that there
would be an impact.

0. Uh-huh. So even though this sentence in
the letter of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
recommends a survey i1f the project directly or
indirectly impacts the river or the

naturally-vegetated riparian zone, the Applicant
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decided that it was not going to perform such a
study, correct?
A. That's correct because we did not believe

that the indirect impacts would be significant enough
to affect the species.

Q. Would you go to Applicant's Exhibit 3
which is a compilation of the Applicant's responses
to the Staff's Data Requests.

A, Yes.

Q. All right. Go to the response to the
Twelfth Data Request if you can find that. And what
you are looking for is an economic impact report
which would serve as Attachment D to the response to
the Twelve Data Request.

A, Yes.

Q. You are sponsoring this report in your

testimony, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did you write this report?

A. I did not.

0. Who wrote it?

A. A Stantec economist.

0. And you are not an economist, correct?
A. I am not, but I am the project manager

responsible for quality control reviews.
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0. The economist who actually wrote this
report is not testifying in this hearing; is that
correct?

A. He 1s not.

Q. Did you provide any data for use in this
report?

A. In coordination with the Applicant, yes.

Q. So the Applicant gave you data, and then
you passed that data onto your economist?

A. That's correct.

0. What was the model that was used to come
up with the economic statistics in this report?

A. The program we use is called IMPLAN which
is the input/output model that's used to quantify
economic benefits from a project.

0. Are you familiar with the JEDI model?

A, I am.

0. Was a JEDI model used for this -- for the
preparation of this report?

A. It was not.

0. Why was IMPLAN used instead of JEDI?

A. JEDI is a model that was created by the

National Renewable Energy Laboratories Group from the
Department of Energy and they used to have a solar

model, but because of the economics of solar, the
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model was becoming very quickly obsolete and they
weren't able to keep it updated, so the JEDI model 1is
no longer supported for the solar energy. So we used
IMPLAN which was actually part of the data that fed
into the IMPLAN model -- or, sorry, the IMPLAN data
feeds into the JEDI model.

0. Can you tell me the number of
construction employees that -- for this project that
are expected to live in Pickaway County? Let me
reword that because that was not very well worded.

Can you tell me the number of Pickaway
County residents who will be employed in the
construction of this project if it's constructed?

A. We are not able to forecast that
percentage at this time. I believe the expectation
is that at least 80 percent would be Ohio-domiciled
workers in order to qualify for the PILOT. But
beyond that we don't have a locational breakdown.

Q. Can you tell me whether the solar panels
that will be used in this project will be
manufactured in Ohio?

A. I believe the only Ohio manufacturing
facility is First Solar, and I don't recall that
First Solar is one of the potential solar modules

being considered for this project.
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Q. Do you know whether any of the project
area that will be used for solar panel construction
is currently farmed?

A. I would have to double-check the acreage,
but I believe it's somewhere in the order of
700 acres or so that's currently farmed that would be
used for solar construction.

Q. Okay. And do you know the identity of

the farmers who are currently farming that land?

A. I know there are a handful of farmers
that farm it. I don't know exactly which parcels
they farm.

Q. Do you know how many people are involved

in farming the land in the project area that would be
replaced by solar panels?

A. I do not.

Q. Does this economic impact report provide
any information about the number of farmers,
including their employees, who may no longer be able
to farm in the project area i1if this project is built?

A. No. Our economic impact report does not
discuss that, and we are upfront in that report in
stating that this does not consider anything besides
the creation of jobs from the project. It doesn't

look at the net change in jobs.
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0. So the report did not determine whether
anybody would lose their jobs as a result -- in
farming as a result of the building of this project;
is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Is there nothing in this economic report
that evaluates the loss of income in crop seeds or
fertilizer or custom application services or any
other services or products that are currently used
for agriculture in the project area?

A. It does not include an assessment like
that.

Q. Let's go to Exhibit V of the application

that was marked as Applicant's Exhibit 2.

A. I'm at Exhibit V.

0. And you're familiar with Exhibit V?

A, I am.

Q. That's the visual impact mitigation and
lighting -- lighting plan, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did you play any role in preparing
Exhibit V?

A. Yes. We assisted the Applicant with

development of this document.

Q. And what about you personally? Did you
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participate in its preparation?
A. I did.
0. What was your role?
A. Advising on some measures that could be

implemented that have been discussed in other
projects in the State such as including the
agricultural fencing instead of chain link fencing to
help mitigate visual impacts.

0. Are you familiar with the location of
State Route 1047

A, I am.

Q. Okay. And you are familiar with its

location near the project area?

A. Yes, running through the project area,
correct.

Q. Let's go to the map that's in Exhibit
Vv o--

A. Yes.

0. -- which is labeled "Preliminary

Landscape Screen Plan" and let me know when you have

found that.
A. I have it located.
Q. All right. And do you see where State

Route 104 is on this map?

A, I do.
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0. It's not labeled, is it, as 1047

A. I believe it says "Ohio 104" about
halfway up the figure.

Q. I think I found it. Okay. All right.
So based on your visual impact study, the project
will be visible from State Route 104, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. What's your understanding as to how close

the solar panels will be at their closest location to
State Route 1047

A. I believe it varies. The project
implemented a setback from the roadway to the fence
line and then there is an offset from the fence to
the module, so I don't know that I have an exact
measurement of what that distance in total would be.

Q. The panels will be easily visible from
the road, correct?

A. They will.

Q. And does this map in Exhibit V identify
locations where vegetative screening is proposed by
the Applicant?

A. Yes. I believe there are four locations
on this plan where screening would be proposed to be
placed as of this plan.

0. And those are identified on the map of --
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with green lines, correct?
A. That's correct.
0. And the rest of the boundary around the

project area will not have vegetative screening; 1is
that correct?

A. At the time this plan was put together,
those were the currently proposed locations.
However, this was pulled together over a year ago and
I believe there's -- the Applicant is open to
additional screening along locations and continuing
to work with landowners in the area to identify
locations where additional screening might be
warranted.

We also through coordination with the
State Historic Preservation Office will be adding, I
believe that is in future testimony with Anne Lee,
adding some additional locations for screening due to
historic structures and mitigating the impact of the
project to those locations.

So there are already, I think, at least
one or two more locations where screening will be
added. And as I said, I know the Applicant 1is
continuing to work to identify any additional
locations that might warrant screening.

There's also a condition in the
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certificate -- or proposed certificate conditions
that requires an update to this plan and a
documentation of either screening or good neighbor
agreement or another mechanism to address concerns
from landowners who have unobstructed views of the
project.

Q. Let's just break down your answer into
several components then. With regard to the
screening that has been agreed to for purposes of the
historic structures, can you tell me where that
screening will be located?

A. I believe it's along Dungan Road and
potentially the southern part of 104, but I would
have to look at the map. It was in the agreement
that we signed, the memorandum of understanding
that's signed, with SHPO regarding the project.

Q. Can you tell me how many linear feet of
screening is proposed for the purposes of shielding

those cultural resources?

A. I would have to reference that report and
agreement.

Q. That report is in the application?

A. I believe it's included as -- it was

provided as a Data Request response to the docket.

Q. Okay. Other than that screening, is
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there any other screening that has been identified in
the application or in the responses to Data Requests
as commitments by the Applicant to put in the
screening?

A. No, nothing at this stage. But again, we
would have to update this document prior to the start
of construction and submit to OPSB for approval prior
to that. So they will continue to work to identify
locations as the site layout evolves or as landowner
coordination continues.

0. Are you familiar with the condition
that's been proposed in the Staff Report to address
the landscape plan?

A. Yes. That's what I referenced earlier.

Q. And is it your understanding based on
your review of that condition that the landscape plan
is required to provide screening between the project
in locations in direct line of sight of residences?

A. Adjacent residents, I believe, with
direct line of sight to the project, yes.

0. Yeah. And so with regard to the views of
the project from State Route 104, are there any areas
other than those already marked on the map in Exhibit
V as receiving vegetation that you believe are --

will need screening because they are in the direct
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line of sight between a residence and the project?

A. I'm unaware but there is also the
condition allows for good neighbor agreements to be
executed where they can waive the right -- or waive
their request for any screening. So I'm not fully
aware of where good neighbor agreements have been
signed and where they haven't that would necessitate
additional screening but we will do a full review of
that with the Applicant prior to the start of
construction.

0. Other than the screening that has been
committed for the cultural resources that you've
mentioned, how many feet approximately of vegetative
screening has been committed to in the application or
responses to Data Requests?

A. I don't believe that the number of linear
feet are provided in that document.

Q. Well, you have -- you have the -- the map

with the screening locations identified in Exhibit V,

correct?
A. That's correct.
Q. And there's a scale on that map?
A. There is but I don't know with the tools

that are currently afforded to me I can make an

accurate representation of that length.
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Q. Can you tell me approximately how many
linear feet there are in the boundary around the
project area?

A. I don't know the answer to that.

0. Do you know where the location of the
Ebenhacks' fruit and vegetable farm is?

A. I do.

Q. Can you tell me whether according to
Exhibit V any vegetative screening has been proposed
to be located in the line of sight between the
Ebenhacks' fruit and vegetable farm and the project?

A. Based on this plan there's no screening
planned between the project and the Ebenhacks' stand.

MR. VAN KLEY: At this time, your Honor,
I have no further questions for this witness.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you very much,
Mr. Van Kley.

Mr. Chamberlain?

MR. CHAMBERLAIN: No gquestions, your
Honor.

ALJ ADDISON: Any questions from you,
Mr. Eubanks?

MR. EUBANKS: No questions, your Honor.

ALJ ADDISON: Okay. Redirect?

MS. SHEELY: ©No, thank you, your Honor.
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ALJ ADDISON: Thank you.

I have no additional questions. You are
excused. Thank you very much.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

ALJ ADDISON: Ms. Sheely, you had
previously moved for the admission of Applicant's
Exhibit 12 and No. 13; is that correct?

MS. SHEELY: Yes.

ALJ ADDISON: Are there any objections to
the admission of these two exhibits?

MR. VAN KLEY: What were the numbers of
those again, your Honor?

ALJ ADDISON: 12 and 13, Mr. Van Kley.

MR. VAN KLEY: We have no objection.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you very much.

And hearing no other objections,
Applicant Exhibits 12 and 13 will be admitted.

(EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.)

ALJ ADDISON: This may be as good a time
as any to take our lunch break for today. Let's go
ahead and break until 1:00 p.m. We will reconvene
then and begin with I believe we have Mr. Gebhardt,
correct, next, Ms. Sheely?

MS. SHEELY: Yes.

ALJ ADDISON: All right. Thank you all.
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(Thereupon,

at 12:15 p.m.,

305

a lunch recess
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Tuesday Afternoon Session,
February 28, 2023.
ALJ ADDISON: Let's go ahead and go back
on the record.
The Applicant may call its next witness.
MR. BRUGGEMAN: Yes. Karl Gebhardt.
ALJ ADDISON: Welcome, Mr. Gebhardt.
MR. GEBHARDT: Thank you.
ALJ ADDISON: Please raise your right
hand.
(Witness sworn.)
ALJ ADDISON: Thank you. Please be

seated.

KARL GEBHARDT
being first duly sworn, as prescribed by law, was
examined and testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

By Mr. Bruggeman:

0. Good afternoon, Karl.
A. Good afternoon.
Q. Could you please state your full name for

the record and spell it, please.

A. Karl R. Gebhardt, K-A-R-L R
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G-E-B-H-A-R-D-T.

0. Thank you. And, Karl, who are you
recently employed by?

A. I was recently employed by the Applicant
Solar -- Scioto Solar Farms.

Q. Okay. And what is your current position?

A. I am currently retired from the previous
Jjob was Executive Director of the Ohio Lake Erie
Commission.

0. Okay. And, Karl, if you could turn in

the notebook there to Applicant Exhibit 26.

A. Exhibit 26. I am not finding that.

0. Is it in the other? This one here, Karl.
A. Oh, okay. Bigger books.

0. Did you locate it?

A. Yes.

Q. And, Karl, do you recognize that exhibit?
A. Yes. It's my written comments.

Q. So is this the prefiled testimony that

was filed on January 30, 20237

A, Yes.

Q. And, Karl, if I were to ask you the same
questions today that's in that exhibit, would you
answer the same?

A. Yes.
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0. So no modifications or corrections to

your prefiled testimony.
A, No.

MR. BRUGGEMAN: Your Honor,

with that I

would just move for the admission of Applicant's

Exhibit 26 pending cross-examination and tender

Mr. Gebhardt for cross.

ALJ ADDISON: Thank you very much.

Mr. Dove?

MR. DOVE: No questions, your Honor.

ALJ ADDISON: Ms. Curtis?

MS. CURTIS: No questions, your Honor.

ALJ ADDISON: Mr. Van Kley?

MR. VAN KLEY: Thank you, your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

By Mr. Van Kley:

Good afternoon, Mr. Gebhardt.

Good afternoon.

I am not a farmer.

Q
A
Q. Are you a farmer?
A
0 Have you ever been a farmer?
A

I grew up on a small farm in northeast

Ohio.

Q. So how many years did you live on that
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farm?

A. About 12.

Q. And that was during your childhood?

A. Yes.

0. Are you a soil scientist?

A. I am not a soil scientist.

0. Have you ever been a soil scientist?

A. I have not.

Q. Are you an agronomist?

A. I am not.

Q. Have you ever been an agronomist?

A. No.

Q. Let's go to page 4 of your testimony

that's been marked as Applicant's Exhibit 26. And I
would like to direct your attention to the top of the

page where you have a discussion about the Scioto

River mainstream. Do you see that?
A. Yes.
Q. And you state that "Currently the Scioto

mainstream that flows within this HUC-12 is in full
attainment with its 